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  Hon Liza Harvey MLA 
Minister for Police; Road Safety; 
Training and Workforce Development; Women's Interests 
 
 
In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your information and 
presentation to Parliament, the Final Report of Great Southern Institute of Technology for the period January 1 2016 to 
April 10 2016 

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the terms of the appointment of the Reporting Officer, as outlined 
by the Treasurer and the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006. 

 

   Satvinder Sekhon 
Reporting Officer 
20 June 2016 
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In October 2015, The Minister for Training and Workforce Development launched the Training Sector Reform Project 
(Reform Project) to examine the function and structure of Western Australia’s public training sector. The purpose of the 
Reform Project is to ensure a robust and sustainable public vocational education and training (VET) sector with high 
quality training that is accessible and equitable to the community and that supports improved outcomes for students.  
 
As a result of the State Government’s Training Sector Reform Project from 11 April 2016, the 11 former Institutes and 
their 70 campus locations will be managed by a network of five TAFE colleges.  The five new TAFE colleges will be 
named North Metropolitan TAFE, South Metropolitan TAFE, North Regional TAFE, Central Regional TAFE and South 
Regional TAFE. 
 
New arrangements will also be introduced that will see greater collaboration among the network of colleges, allowing 
resources and expertise to be shared across WA. This will give students, particularly those in regional areas, access to 
more diverse training programs.   
 
The reforms will also see the reinstatement of the TAFE brand, in recognition of the strong historical association and 
awareness by local communities. 
 
As a result of the reform operations, students and staff at Great Southern Institute of Technology will transition to South 
Regional TAFE from April 11, 2016. Therefore outcomes relating to Great Southern Institute of Technology will be 
reported on in the amalgamated TAFE’s end of financial year reporting. 
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Under Section 68(1) of the Finance Management Act 2006 (FMA) it is necessary to appoint a Reporting Officer, to 
perform the duties in relation to the final reports for the abolished Institute. 
 
Approval was sought for the Treasurer to appoint a reporting officer who is responsible for the preparation of the final 
reports for any Institute closed by the reform. The report will be for the period 1 January 2016 to 10 April 2016 inclusive 
and include a set of financial statements and notes (including 2015 comparatives), an abridged report on operations 
and not include key performance indicators.  
 
The final report is to be submitted to the Minister for The Department of Training and Workforce Development within 90 
days from the closure date of Great Southern Institute of Technology, to be tabled in Parliament 14 days after that. 
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Enabling Legislation 
Great Southern Institute of Technology is a Statutory Authority in 1996 under section 35 of the Vocational Education 
and Training Act 1996. 
 
Legislation Administered 
The Minister for Training and Workforce Development administers the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996. 
 
Legislation Impacting on the Institutes Activities 
Key legislation impacting on Great Southern Institute of Technology’s activities and with which the institute complies 
are the following: 

 

State Legislation  
• Auditor General Act 2006  
• Building and Construction Industry Training Levy Act 

1990  
• Building and Construction Industry Training Fund and 

Levy Collection Act 1990  
• Children and Community Services Act 2004  
• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003  
• Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913  
• Disability Services Act 1993  
• Education Service Providers (Full Fee Overseas 

Students) Registration Act 1991  
• Electoral Act 1907  
• Electronic Transactions Act 2011  
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984  
• Evidence Act 1906  
• Financial Management Act 2006  

• Freedom of Information Act 1992  
• Industrial Relations Act 1979  
• Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951  
• Limitation Act 2005  
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993  
• Occupational Health and Safety Act 1984  
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003  
• Public Sector Management Act 1994  
• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  
• School Education Act 1999  
• State Records Act 2000  
• State Supply Commission Act 1991  
• Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management 

Act 1981  
• Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) 

Act 2004.  
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Commonwealth Legislation  
• Competition and Consumer Act 2010  
• Copyright Act 1968  
• Copyright Amendment (Digital Agenda) Act 2000  
• Corporations Act 2001  
• Education Services for Overseas Students Act 2000  
• Electronic Transactions Act 1999  
• Evidence Act 1995  
• Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986  
• Higher Education Support Act 2003  
• Mutual Recognition Act 1992  
• National Vocational Education and Training Regulator Act 2011  
• Privacy Act 1988  
• Skilling Australia’s Workforce Act 2005  
• Spam Act 2003  
• Trade Marks Act 1995.  
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Great Southern Institute of Technology is a statutory authority delivering vocational education and training.  
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Governing Council Members 2016 
 

Name Position 

Scott Leary Chairperson 

Anne Stafford Member 

Suzanne Yewers Member 

Simon Lyas Member 

Mark Dowling Member 

Suresh Balakrishnan Member 

Carl Beck Member 
 
Corporate Executive 

Name Position 

Chris Jones Acting Managing Director 

Edward Armstrong Director Planning 

Ken McKinnon Director Corporate Services 

Justine Bradney Director Academic 
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Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes (Breaches) 
No breaches of public sector standards or ethical codes were reported during the reporting period.   
 
Public Interest Disclosures 
No disclosures were made during the reporting period under the Institute’s Public Interest Disclosure policy. 
 
Record Keeping Plan 
Under Section 19 of the State Records Act 2000, every Government organisation is required to have a Recordkeeping 
Plan (RKP) approved by the State Records Commission. 
 
An RKP covering all State Training Providers was approved by the State Records Commission on 7 December 2012 and 
is valid until 2017. Great Southern Institute of Technology continues to work with other State Training Providers to 
improve recordkeeping practices and share common resources. 
The institute has implemented strategies supported by policies and procedures to ensure employees are aware of 
their recordkeeping responsibilities. All staff, through the induction program, receive information on the requirements 
of recordkeeping. Further information and updates on records management are distributed to staff as necessary, in 
addition to any systems training required. 
 
Freedom of Information 
No requests were made during the reporting period under the Freedom of Information provisions. 
 
Complaints 
No complaints were made to the Institute during the reporting period. 
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Advertising  
In accordance with s175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, Great Southern Institute of Technology incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.  
Total expenditure for the period 1 January to 10 April 2016 was $44,130.27.  
 
Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management 
Great Southern Institute of Technology will maintain active and effective Safety, Health and Injury Management 
program aimed at protecting GSIT staff, contractors, students and visitors from work-related injury and disease. GSIT 
strives to fully integrate health and safety into all aspects of its activities through a process of continuous 
improvement.   
 
The OHS Committee support the Occupational Health and Safety Policy of the Institute, by promoting and facilitating 
consultation between staff, students, management and OSH Representatives. 
 
Great Southern Institute of Technology is committed to providing injury management support to all workers who 
sustain a work related injury or illness with a focus on safe and early return to meaningful work and in accordance with 
the Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.  
 
An accredited external assessment of the institute was completed in 2009 and in 2012 an internal assessment was 
conducted with silver status achieved. 
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Great Southern Institute of Technology is established under section 35 of the Vocational Education and Training Act 
1996. 
 
Section 37 of the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 outlines the functions of a college. 
 
(1) The functions of a college are as follows — 

(a)  to provide vocational education and training; 
(ba) to tender for and enter into contracts for the provision by it of vocational education and training; 
(bb)  to provide vocational education and training on a fee for service basis; 
(b)  to confer awards and, if it is a registered training provider and, under the terms of its registration as such, 

authorised to do so — 
(i) approved VET qualifications; and 
(ii) prescribed VET qualifications; 

(ca) to provide, for a fee or otherwise, or enter into contracts to provide, products, consultancy or other services 
in the course of, or incidental to, the provision by the college of vocational education and training; 

(c)  to undertake research and development related to vocational education and training which has a direct 
practical application to industry, commerce and the community; 

(da)  to turn to account the vocational education and training expertise of the college by means of the sale of 
services and the commercial exploitation of intellectual property, including the assignment and licensing 
of such property;  

(d)  to promote equality of opportunity in the undertaking of vocational education and training; 
(ea)  to provide adult and community education; 
(e)  to provide or arrange for the provision of services to its students; 
(fa)  to provide housing for its staff, and residential accommodation for its students; 
(fb)  with the approval of the Minister, to establish and maintain branches of the college at such places in the 

State as its governing council thinks fit; 
(f)  with the approval of the Minister, on terms and conditions approved by the Treasurer, to participate in 

business arrangements relating to the provision of vocational education and training; 
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(g)  to contribute to the general development of the community in the region of the college through such 

activities as may be authorised by the Minister; 
(h)  to provide education on behalf of another educational institution; 
(i)  to perform any function prescribed. 

 
 
(2) A college must perform its functions in accordance with its strategic plan last approved under section 43 and its 
business plan last approved under section 44A. 
 
(3) A college is not to hold land or any estate or interest in land, but this subsection does not apply to the holding of 
land or an estate or interest in land that is part of a business arrangement in which the college participates under 
subsection (1)(f). 
 
(4) The power conferred by subsection (1)(f) is not subject to, and may be exercised despite, the State Supply 
Commission Act 1991.  
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On the 11th April 2016, operations, staff and students of Great Southern Institute of Technology will transition to South 
Regional TAFE, as part of the Western Australian Training Sector Reform Project. 
 
For 2016, prior to the transition, Great Southern Institute of Technology had 202 staff across four campuses. 
 
There were 161 courses offered across the campuses. As this report is not for a full calendar year, it is not practical or 
meaningful to provide student and enrolment data for this period and full year student enrolment data will be 
reported on the in the Annual Report for South Regional TAFE. 









 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 

 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

  
     1 Jan – 10 Apr. 

    2016 
Year ended 31 Dec. 

2015 
 
COST OF SERVICES 
 

Notes $ $ 

Expenses    

Employee benefits expense 6 4,241,869  16,227,108 

Supplies and services 7 1,415,626 5,621,806 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 240,750  842,342 

Cost of sales 13 17,459  175,488 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 17 -    473,401 

Other expenses 9 458,498    1,229,026 

Total cost of services  6,374,202               24,569,171 

    
Income    

Revenue    

Fee for service 10 115,497  1,104,245 

Student fees and charges 11 1,138,863  3,057,893 

Ancillary trading 12 13,165  215,430 

Sales 13 26,461  336,975 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 76,063  326,363 

Interest revenue 15 53,923  244,448 

Other revenue 16 22,650  65,280 

Total revenue  1,446,622 5,350,634 

Gains    

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 17 4,991 - 

Total gains  4,991 - 

Total income other than income from State Government 1,451,613 5,350,634 ,999,194 
    

NET COST OF SERVICES  4,922,589 19,218,537 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT    

Service appropriation 18 4,411,676 18,271,917 

Resources received free of charge 18 174,000 954,549 

Total income from State Government  4,585,676 19,226,466 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR PERIOD  (336,913) 7,929 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 31 - (48,841) 

Total other comprehensive income  - (48,841) 

    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE  PERIOD (336,913) (40,912) (20,932) 



 

 

Statement of Financial Position as at 10 April 2016 

 
 As at 10 Apr. 

2016 
As at 31 Dec. 

2015 

 Notes $ $ 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 32 760,973  2,657,444 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19 536,758 686,236 

Inventories 20 38,877  45,957 

Receivables 21 915,646  608,801 

Other current assets 22 5,498,949  4,379,454 

Non-current assets held for sale 23   -  620,000 

Total Current  Assets 
 

7,751,203 8,997,892 

  
  

Non-Current Assets    

Property, plant and equipment 24 28,894,802 28,913,716 

Intangible assets 26 5,737 10,886 

Total Non-Current Assets  28,900,539 28,924,602 

  
  

TOTAL ASSETS  36,651,742 37,922,494 

    

LIABILITIES    

Current Liabilities    

Payables 28 330,769  269,053 

Provisions 29 2,590,721  2,330,152 

Other current liabilities 30 91,216 493,513 

Total Current Liabilities 
 

3,012,706 3,092,718 

  
  

Non-Current Liabilities    

Provisions 29 542,260 561,616 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 
 

542,260 561,616 

  
  

TOTAL LIABILITIES  3,554,966 3,654,334 

    

NET ASSETS  33,096,776 34,268,160 

    

Equity    

Contributed equity 31 9,658,278  10,492,749 

Reserves 31 7,882,196  7,882,196 

Accumulated surplus 31 15,556,302  15,893,215 

TOTAL  EQUITY  33,096,776 34,268,160 

    

 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
  



 

 

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 

 
 Contributed 

Equity 
Reserves Accumulated 

surplus 
Total Equity 

 Note $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 January 2015  5,886,580 7,931,037 15,885,286 29,702,903 

Surplus - - 7,929 7,929 

Other comprehensive income  - (48,841) - (48,841) 

 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 

 - (48,841) 7,929 (40,912) 

      

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

 
  

  

Capital appropriations 4,606,169 - - 4,606,169 

Total  4,606,169 - - 4,606,169 

    

Balance at 31 December 2015  10,492,749 7,882,196 15,893,215 34,268,160 

      

      

      

Balance at 1 January 2016  10,492,749 7,882,196 15,893,215 34,268,160 

Surplus - - (336,913) (336,913) 

Other comprehensive income  - - - - 

 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 

 - - (336,913) (336,913) 

      

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

 
  

  

Capital appropriations 31 (834,471) - - (834,471) 

Total  (834,471) - - (834,471) 

    

Balance at 10 April 2016  9,658,278 7,882,196 15,556,302 33,096,776 

 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



 

 

Statement of Cash Flows for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 

  
 1 Jan – 10 Apr. 

    2016 
Year ended 31 Dec. 

2015 

 Notes $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT    

Service appropriation – Department of Training & 
Workforce Development 

 3,954,814 18,554,825 

Net cash provided by State Government  3,954,814 18,554,825 

    

Utilised as follows:    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Payments    

Employee benefits  (3,908,334) (16,470,783) 

Supplies and services  (1,124,519) (4,837,280) 

GST payments on purchases  (135,357) (507,015) 

GST payments to taxation authority  (5,309)   (181,015) 

Other payments  (458,498) (1,197,148) 

Receipts    

Fee for service  115,497  1,150,033 

Student fees and charges  871,157 2,697,693 

Ancillary trading  13,165  215,430 

Commonwealth grants and contributions   64,264 326,363 

Interest received  66,663 249,573 

GST receipts from on sales  20,896 170,252 

GST receipts from taxation authority  128,946  509,020 

Sale of Goods  16,082    166,623 

Other receipts  22,650  65,280 

Net cash used in operating activities 32 (4,312,697) (17,642,974) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payments    

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (216,158) (149,357) 

Purchase of other current financial assets  (1,261,899) (2,674,244) 

Receipts     

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  4,991 9,228 

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,473,066) (2,814,374) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Payments    

Payments to Owners  (215,000) (500,000) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (215,000) (500,000) 

    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (2,045,949) (2,402,523) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  3,343,680 5,746,203 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
PERIOD 32 1,297,731 3,343,680 

 

The Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 

1. Australian Accounting Standards 

(a) General 

The Institute's financial statements for the period ended 10 April 2016 have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards' includes Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB). 

The Institute has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates. 

(b) Early adoption of standards 

The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
Treasurer's Instruction (TI) 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements'. Partial exemption permitting early adoption of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities has been granted. 
Aside from AASB 2015-7, there has been no early adoption of any other Australian Accounting Standards 
that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Institute for the reporting period ended 10 
April 2016. 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. 
Unless otherwise stated, these policies are consistent with those adopted in the previous year. 

(a) General statement 

The Institute is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of 
these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that 
govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of 
the AASB. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention, except for land, buildings and artworks which have been measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($). 

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have 
been made in the process of applying the Institute’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant 
effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.  

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material  adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year. 

(c)  Reporting entity 

The reporting entity is solely comprised of the Institute. 
  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

(d) Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, 
or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. 

Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 'Contributions by 
Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' and have been credited directly to Contributed 
Equity. 

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal. See note 31 'Equity'. 

(e) Income 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 

The majority of operating revenue of the Institute represents revenue earned from student fees and 
charges, fee for service, ancillary services, trading activities and Commonwealth grants and contributions. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised for the major 
business activities as follows: 

Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Provision of services 

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Institute obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received. 

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated. 

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Institute 
obtains control over the funds. The Institute obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited 
into the Institute’s bank account. 

Service appropriations 

Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Institute gains 
control of the appropriated funds. The Institute gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds 
are deposited to the bank account.  

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

State funds 

The funds received from the Department of Training and Workforce Development in respect of the delivery 
of services forming part of the Delivery Performance Agreement are included in State funds, disclosed 
under ‘Income from State Government'. They are the result of training successfully tendered for under 
competitive tendering arrangements. This revenue is recognised at nominal value in the period in which the 
Institute meets the terms of the Agreement. See note 18 'Income from State Government'. 

Gains 

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the 
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Where applicable in accordance with TI 
1101, the capitalisation threshold has been applied to the aggregate value of a group or network of assets 
where the cost of individual item may be below the threshold but collectively the cost of the items in the 
group or network exceeds the threshold. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 
are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form 
part of a group of similar items which are significant in total). 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.  

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value 
at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement  

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land 
and buildings and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried 
at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses 

All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis 
of current market values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are 
revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against 
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 
existing use.  This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair 
value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of 
buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the 
accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. Fair value for restricted use land is determined by 
comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or 
market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land). 

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Institute 
(Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially 
from the asset's fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether 
to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated life. 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction 
between market type assets and existing use assets. Refer to note 24 'Property, plant and equipment' for 
further information on revaluations. 

Derecognition 

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus. 

Asset revaluation surplus 

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-
current assets as described in note 24 ‘Property, plant and equipment’. 

Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. 

Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

Buildings      40 years 

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers   4 to 23 years 

Plant, furniture and general equipment   4 to 28 years 

Computing, communications and software 
(a)

  1 to 15 years 

(a)
 Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. 

Land is not depreciated. 

(g) Intangible assets 

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets 

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is 
expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit 
(estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled 
by the Institute have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each class of 
intangible asset are: 

License    up to 10 years 

Development costs  3 to 5 years 

Software 
(a)

   3 to 5 years 

Website costs   3 to 5 years 

(a)
 Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware. 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

Licenses 

Licenses have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Computer software 

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. 
Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition. 

Website costs 

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or 
development of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to 
feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the 
operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a web site that can be reliably 
measured, are capitalised, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits. 

(h) Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. 
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset measured 
at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a 
previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation 
decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Institute is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has 
been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at 
fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are 
at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for 
indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

See note 27 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.  See note 2(n) 
'Receivables' and note 21 'Receivables' for impairment of receivables. 

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial 
Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised. 

(j) Financial instruments 

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the Institute has two categories of financial instruments: 

 Loans and receivables; and 
 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 
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These have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

Financial assets 

 Cash and cash equivalents 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
 Receivables 
 Other financial assets 

Financial liabilities 

 Payables 
 Amounts repayable to Department of Training and Workforce Development 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the 
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material. 

(k) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include restricted cash and 
cash equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. 

(l) Accrued salaries 

Accrued salaries (see note 28 'Payables') represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
reporting period, as the end of the last pay period for that reporting period does not coincide with the end of 
the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period. The Institute 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value. 

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 19 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of 
amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of ten financial years to largely meet the 
additional cash outlay in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest 
is received on this account. 

(m) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method 
most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being measured on a first in first out 
basis. 

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they 
are measured at net realisable value. See note 20 'Inventories'. 

(n) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. 
impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables 
identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible 
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Institute will not be able to 
collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 
See note 2(j) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 21 ‘Receivables’. 

(o) Payables 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Institute becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, 
as settlement is generally within 30 days.  See note 2(j) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 28 'Payables'. 
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(p) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. See note 29 ‘Provisions’.  

(i) Provisions - employee benefits 

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end 
of the reporting period. 

Annual leave 

Annual leave is expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and 
is therefore considered to be a ‘short-term employee benefit’. The annual leave liability is recognised 
and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled. 
 
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Institute does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. 

Long service leave 

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
 
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Institute does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-
current liabilities because the Institute has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability 
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

Deferred Leave 

The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund an additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The 
provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability 
is measured on the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as 
employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time. 

Professional allowance leave 

The provision for professional allowance leave relates to the entitlement of lecturers under the WA 
TAFE lecturers general agreement for four weeks professional leave during each calendar year of 
service. Since this entitlement cannot be accrued from year to year it is not ordinarily provided for at 31 
December but has been provided at 10 April 2016.   

Purchased leave  

The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises 
the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Superannuation 

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. 
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to 
commencement and implementation dates.  
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Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new 
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum 
scheme closed to new members since 1995. 

 
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS 
and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The 
Institute makes contributions to GESB or other funds providers on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. 
Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Institute’s liability for superannuation 
charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS. 
 
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting.  However, it is a defined contribution plan for Institute purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made by the Institute to GESB extinguishes the Institute’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability. 
 
The Institute has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded 
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from 
the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by 
concurrent contributions made by the Institute to the GESB. 
 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped 
from the Treasurer for the employer's share. See also note 2(q) 'Superannuation expense'. 

 
(ii) Provisions - other 

Employment on-costs 

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has 
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of 'Other expenses' and are not included as part of 
the Institute's 'Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs 
provision'. (See note 9 'Other expenses' and note 29 'Provisions'.) 

 

(q) Superannuation 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS) and other superannuation funds. 

(r) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost 

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Institute would otherwise purchase if 
not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably 
measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income 
from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(s) Comparative figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the 
current financial year 

3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of 
accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
The Institute evaluates these judgements regularly.  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

Operating Lease Commitments 

The Institute has entered into a commercial lease and has determined that the lessor retains substantially 
all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property. Accordingly, the lease has been 
classified as an operating lease. 

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other 
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. 

Long Service Leave 

Several estimations and assumptions in calculating the Institute’s long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. 
Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service 
leave provision. 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 
The Institute has not applied any Australian Accounting Standards effective for reporting period 1 January 
2016 to 10 April 2016 that impacted on the Institute. 
 

Voluntary changes in accounting policy  

No voluntary changes in accounting policy have been made.  

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 

The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. Consequently, the Institute has not 
applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the 
Institute. Where applicable, the Institute plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their 
application date. 

  Operative for reporting 
periods beginning on/after 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The mandatory application date of this Standard is 
currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by 
AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9, and, AASB 2014-1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. The 
Institute has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This Standard establishes the principles that the Institute 
shall apply to report useful information to users of financial 
statements about the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a 
contract with a customer. The mandatory application date 
of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 
1 January 2018.  The Institute has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 
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  Operative for reporting 
periods beginning on/after 

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 
5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 
19 & 127] 

This Standard makes consequential amendments to 
other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010. 

The mandatory application date of this Standard has 
been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 
1 January 2018. The Institute has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 
and consequential amendments to other Standards. It 
has not yet been assessed to determine the application 
or potential impact. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 15 

This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The 
Institute has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2017 

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 (December 2014) 

This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 
(December 2014). The Institute has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 
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AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049] 

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to 
include application by not-for-profit public sector entities. 
Implementation guidance is included to assist application 
of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. The 
Institute will be required to make related party disclosures, 
though there is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2016 

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Effective Date of AASB 15 

The Standard amends the mandatory effective date of 
AASB 15, consequential amendments originally set out in 
AASB 2014-5, and, Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation 
Accounting. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2017 

 

Changes in Accounting Estimates 

There have been no changes in accounting estimates. 

 
 
 
6.  Employee Benefits Expense 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 $ $ 

Wages and salaries 
(a)

 3,892,633 14,085,591 

Voluntary Severance Scheme payments 
(b)

 - 821,433 

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 
(c)

 349,236 1,320,084 

 4,241,869 16,227,108 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, 
leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component. 

 
(b) During 2016 no employees (2015: 11) chose to participate in a voluntary severance scheme. 

 
(c) Defined contribution plans include West State, and Gold State and GESBS and other eligible 

funds. 

Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 9 'Other 
expenses'. Employment on-costs liability is included at note 29 'Provisions'. 
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7. Supplies and Services 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Consumables and minor equipment 202,079 538,703 

Communication expenses  27,297 569,920 

Utilities expenses  82,595 367,965 

Consultancies and contracted services  525,098 2,235,288 

Minor works  255,609 730,853 

Repairs and maintenance 17,624 144,557 

Operating lease and hire charges  85,395 267,790 

Travel and passenger transport   24,501 151,121 

Advertising and public relations  46,315 96,323 

Supplies and services – other 129,864 435,876 

Supplies and Services – PD staff activities 19,249 83,410 

 1,415,626 5,621,806 

 
8.  Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

Depreciation        $ $ 

Buildings 179,566 617,103 

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 7,161 25,778 

Plant, furniture and general equipment 19,457 73,305 

Computer equipment and communication network 29,417 78,800 

Total Depreciation 235,601 794,986 

Amortisation   

Software 5,149 47,356 

Total Amortisation 5,149 47,356 

Total depreciation and amortisation 240,750 842,342 

 
 
9.  Other Expenses 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Building maintenance 74,912 221,184 

Doubtful debts expense - 23,782 

Employment on-costs (a) 352,484 957,040 

Student Prizes & Awards 13,822 18,191 

Losses and write-offs  17,280 8,096 

Donations - 733 

Total 458,498 1,229,026 

  (a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the 
recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 29 'Provisions'.  Superannuation contributions 
accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs. 
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10.  Fee for Service 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Fee for service – general 77,143 819,497 

Fee for service – Department of Training and Workforce Development 829 193,087 

International division Fees 37,525 91,661 

 115,497 1,104,245 

 
11.  Student Fees and Charges 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

$ $ 

Tuition fees 850,717 2,325,817 

Resource fees 203,757 451,687 

Other Institute fees 84,389 280,389 

 1,138,863 3,057,893 

 
12.  Ancillary Trading 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Live works (not a trading activity) 12,529 98,755 

Other ancillary revenue 636 116,675 

Total 13,165 215,430 
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13.  Trading Profit / (Loss) 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 
$ $ 

(a) Bookshop   

Sales 22,653 72,644 

Cost of sales:   

Opening inventory (43,098) (48,120) 

Purchases (10,379) (47,620) 

Goods available for sale (53,477) (95,740) 

Closing inventory  38,877 43,098 

Cost of goods sold (14,600) (52,642) 

Trading Profit - Bookshop 8,054 20,002 

   

   

(b) Cafeteria (b)   

Sales 2,584 250,346 

Cost of sales:   

Opening inventory (2,859) (2,972) 

Purchases - (122,734) 

Goods available for sale (2,859) (125,706) 

Closing inventory  - 2,859 

Cost of goods sold (2,859) (122,847) 

Trading Profit / (Loss) – Cafeteria (275) 127,499 

Other Sales 1,224 13,985 

(a)  See note 2(m) 'Inventories' and note 20 'Inventories'. 
(b)  The cafeteria was leased to a private operator commencing 1 January 2016.  Cafeteria inventory was sold to the 
incoming operators on handover at the lower of cost or realizable value. 
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14.  Commonwealth Grants and Contributions 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions 76,063 326,363 

 76,063 326,363 

This is a resource and development grant from the Department of Education and Training 

 
15.  Interest Revenue 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Interest Revenue 53,923 244,448 

Total 53,923 244,448 

 
16.  Other Revenue 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Rental and facilities fees 4,043 6,260 

Other direct grants and subsidy revenue 3,869 4,854 

Sponsorship and donations revenue  14,350 14,959 

Insurance recoveries - 2,416 

Miscellaneous revenue  388 36,791 

Total 22,650 65,280 

 

 
17.  Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-current assets 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Costs of disposal of non-current assets 
 

 

Buildings - (482,629) 

Plant, furniture and general equipment - - 

Total cost of disposal of non-current assets - (482,629) 

 
  

Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets   

Buildings - - 

Plant, furniture and general equipment 4,991 1,955 

Motor vehicles - 7,273 

Total proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 4,991 9,228 

Net gain / (loss) 4,991 (473,401) 

   

 
See note 2(i) 'Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale’ and note 24 ‘Property, plant and 
equipment’.  
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18.  Income from State Government 

 
Resources received free of charge determined on the basis 
 of the following estimates provided by agencies: 
 

Department of Training and Workforce Development   

- Corporate systems support 171,780 929,965 

- Human resources, industrial relations support 2,220 24,584 

Total resources received free of charge 174,000 954,549 

Total Income from State Government 4,585,676 19,226,466 

 

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. 

(b) Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities between State Government agencies are 
reported under Income from State Government.  Transfers of assets and liabilities in relation to a restructure of 
administrative arrangements are recognised as distribution to owners by the transferor and contribution by 
owners by the transferee under AASB 1004 in respect of net assets transferred. Other non-discretionary non-
reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners under TI 955 are also 
recognised directly to equity. 

 
19.  Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Current 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 
$ $ 

Allowance for 27
th
 Pay (a) 79,791 62,632 

Allowance for deferred salaries (b) 188,344 161,801 

Specific donations (c) 4,640 4,940 

Resource fees refundable (d) 263,983 - 

State grants refundable (e) - 456,863 

 536,758 686,236 

 
 
(a) Amount was held to meet 27 pays in 2024 being one additional pay period more than the normal 26 pays per annum. 
(b) Amount held to meet salaries due to staff, who have elected to defer payment to purchase additional leave at a later 

time. 
(c) Funds for Denmark Music Foundation $4,093 (2015: $4,593), an anonymous donor $120 (2015: $120) and GSIT 

administrative staff $200 (2015: $-). 
(d) An amount is held as a refund of student resource fees that were over paid during 2014 and 2015. 
(e) An amount is held as fees payable to the DTWD for a shortfall in student curriculum hours delivered and a excess of 

recognition of prior learning tuition. 

  

   

 1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

Appropriation received during the year (a) $ $ 

Department of Training and Workforce Development   

Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA) 4,409,546 17,481,609 

Other recurrent funds 2,130 790,308 

Total funds from Dep of Training and Workforce Development 4,411,676 18,271,917 
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20.  Inventories 
 1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

Current $ $ 

Inventories held for resale:   

 Bookshop (at cost) 38,877 43,098 

 Cafeteria (as cost) - 2,859 

Total 38,877 45,957 

(a)  See also note 2(m) ‘Inventories’ and note 13 ‘Trading profit/(loss)’. 
(b)  The cafeteria was leased to a private operator commencing 1 January 2016.  Cafeteria inventory was sold to the 
incoming operators on handover at the lower of cost or realizable value. 

21.  Receivables 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 
$ $ 

Current   

Receivables – trade 208,556 135,622 

Receivables – students 361,707 99,621 

Receivables – other (a) 308,179 309,129 

Accrued income  19,205 31,945 

Allowance for impairment of receivables (49,815) (49,815) 

GST receivable 67,814 82,299 

Total Current  915,646 608,801 

 
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of 
receivables: 

  

Balance at start of period 49,815 26,034 

Doubtful debts expense  - 23,781 

Amounts written off during the period - - 

Balance at End of Period 49,815 49,815 

 
(a) Receivables – other: Funds receivable from Commonwealth Government under the VET Fee Help Scheme of 

$306,743 (2015:$ 307,693) and funds receivable from Mick Young Trust of $1,436 (2015: $1,436). 
 
The Institute does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables. 
See also note 2(n) ‘Receivables’ and note 38 ‘Financial instruments’. 

22. Other current assets  

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

Current $ $ 

Prepayments 42,557 184,961 

Other financial assets (a) 5,456,392 4,194,493 

 
5,498,949 4,379,454 

 
(a) Other financial assets consist of a term deposits with terms exceeding 3 months and are therefore classified as 

“Other financial assets”.   

 
  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

 
23.  Non-current assets classified as held for sale 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Opening balance   

Land 370,000 - 

Buildings 250,000 - 

Less write-down from cost to fair value less selling costs - - 

 620,000 - 

Assets reclassified as held for sale   

Land - 370,000 

Buildings - 250,000 

Less write-down from cost to fair value less selling costs - - 

 - 620,000 

Less assets sold   

Land (370,000) - 

Buildings (250,000) - 

 (620,000) - 

Closing balance   

Land - 370,000 

Buildings - 250,000 

Less write-down from cost to fair value less selling costs - - 

 - 620,000 

 
 
24.  Property, Plant and Equipment 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Land   

At fair value 
(a)

 2,190,000 2,190,000 

 
2,190,000 2,190,000 

Buildings   

At fair value 
(a)

 25,927,778 25,914,000 

Accumulated depreciation (179,036) - 

 
25,748,742 25,914,000 

Capital Works in Progress   

Construction costs 772 8,617 

 772 8,617 

Motor Vehicles, Caravans and Trailers   

At cost 562,458 562,458 

Accumulated depreciation (395,081) (387,919) 

 
167,377 174,539 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

 
24.  Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 
$ $ 

Plant, Furniture and General Equipment   

At cost 1,397,065 1,397,065 

Accumulated depreciation (1,013,524) (994,068) 

 
383,541 402,997 

Computer Equipment and Communication Network   

At cost 1,105,303 895,079 

Accumulated depreciation (700,933) (671,516) 

 
404,370 223,563 

   

 
28,894,802 28,913,716 

 
(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2015 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 

(Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 31 December 2015 and recognised 
at 31 December 2015.  Fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost and 
fair value of land was determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility 
(high restricted use land). See note 2(f) 'Property, plant and equipment'. 

 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the 
reporting period are set out below: 

1 January 
to 10 April 

2016 

Land Buildings Capital 
works in 
progress 

Motor 
vehicles, 
caravans 

and 
trailers 

Plant, 
furniture 

and 
general 

equipment 

Computer 
equipment and 
communication 

network 

Total 

Carrying 
amount at 
start of year 

2,190,000 25,914,000 8,617 174,539 402,998 223,562 28,913,716 

Additions - 13,778 5,934 - - 210,224 229,936 

Transfers - - - - - - - 

Disposals - - (13,778) - - - (13,778) 

Depreciation 
expense 

- (179,036) - (7,162) (19,457) (29,417) (235,072) 

Carrying 
amount at 
end of year 

2,190,000 25,748,742 772 167,377 383,541 404,369 28,894,802 

 
  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

 
24.  Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

 

2015 Land Buildings Capital 
works in 
progress 

Motor 
vehicles, 
caravans 

and 
trailers 

Plant, 
furniture 

and 
general 

equipment 

Computer 
equipment and 
communication 

network 

Total 

Carrying 
amount at 
start of year 

2,560,000 22,188,900 - 153,216 407,667 294,862 25,604,645 

Additions - 5,123,673 8,617 47,101 68,636 7,500 5,255,527 

Transfers (370,000) (250,000) - - - - (620,000) 

Disposals - (489,000) - - - - (489,000) 

Other 
movements 

- - - - - - - 

Revaluation 
Increments/ 
(decrements) 

- (42,470) - - - - (42,470) 

Depreciation 
expense 

- (617,103) - (25,778) (73,305) (78,800) (794,986) 

Carrying 
amount at 
end of year 

2,190,000 25,914,000 8,617 174,539 402,998 223,562 28,913,716 

(a) The Department of Lands is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The land is transferred to the Department 
of Lands for sale and the Authority accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner. 

(b) Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to 
recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. 

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 25  Fair Value Measurements.. 

 
 
25. Fair Value Measurements 

 

Assets measured at fair value: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value 
at end of 

period 

1 January to 10 April 2016 $ $ $ $ 

Land (note 24) - - 2,190,000 2,190,000 

Buildings (note 24) - - 25,748,742 25,748,742 

 - - 27,938,742 27,938,742 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

 
25.  Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value 
at end of 

period 

2015 $ $ $ $ 

Non-current assets held for sale - 620,000 - 620,000 

Land (note 24) - - 2,190,000 2,190,000 

Buildings (note 24) - - 25,914,000 25,914,000 

Total - 620,000 28,104,000 28,724,000 

     

There were no asset transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the current and the previous periods. 
 
Valuation techniques to derive level 2 fair values 

Level 2 fair values of non-current assets held for sale, land and buildings (residential accommodation) are 
derived using the market approach.  Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land and buildings 
(residential accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre. 
 
Non-current assets held for sale have been written down to fair value less cost to sell.  Fair value has been 
determined by reference to market evidence of sales prices of comparable assets. 

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) 

 

1 January to 10 April 2016   Land Buildings 

   $ $ 

Fair Value at start of period 2,190,000 25,914,000 

Additions - 13,778 

Depreciation Expense - (179,036) 

Fair Value at end of period 2,190,000 25,748,742 

 

Total gains for the period included in profit or loss, under ‘Loss on disposal 
of non-current assets’ 

- - 

 
Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or 
loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period 

- - 

 
  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

 
25.  Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

2015   Land Buildings 

   $ $ 

Fair Value at start of period 2,190,000 21,938,900 

Additions - 5,123,673 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss - - 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income 

- (42,470) 

Transfers (to)/from Level 2 - - 

Disposals - (489,000) 

Depreciation Expense - (617,103) 

Fair Value at end of period 2,190,000 25,914,000 

Total losses for the period included in profit or loss, under ‘Loss on 
disposal of non-current assets’ 

- - 

Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or 
loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period 

- - 

 
 
Valuation processes 

 
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period. 

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that 
caused the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale 
as Treasurer's instructions require valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within Level 3 where the 
valuations utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis. 

Fair value for existing use specialised building is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement 
cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such 
cost to reflect the already consumed economic benefit, expired economic benefit or obsolescence of the asset. 

Determination of the current replacement cost of such assets held by the Institute is calculated by reference to 
gross project size specifications. 

Valuation using depreciated replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic 
benefit/obsolescence of asset which is estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services). The fair value measurement is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with 
higher values of the estimate correlating with lower estimated fair values of buildings. 

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high 
restricted use land). 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

25. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements 

Description  Fair value 
2016 

$ 

Fair value 
2015 

$ 

Valuation 
technique(s) 

Unobservable inputs 

Land 
 

2,190,000 2,190,000 Market Approach Selection of land with 
similar approximate 
utility 

Buildings 
 

25,748,742 25,914,000 Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost 

Consumed economic 
benefit / obsolescence 
of asset 

 

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 24. 

Basis of Valuation 

In the absence of market-based evidence due to the specialised nature of the assets, non-financial assets 
are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises 
that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to 
be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a 
specific community service and the Institute's enabling legislation. 

 

26.  Intangible Assets 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Computer software 

  

At cost 142,070 142,069 

Accumulated amortisation (136,333) (131,183) 

 
5,737 10,886 

Reconciliation  
 

Computer software  
 

Carrying amount at start of period 10,886 58,242 

Amortisation expense (5,149) (47,356) 

Carrying amount at end of period 5,737 10,886 

 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

27.  Impairment of Assets 

There were no indications of impairment of property plant and equipment as at 10 April 2016. 
 
The Institute held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.  
At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 
 
All surplus assets as at 10 April 2016 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off. 
 
 
28.  Payables 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

Current $ $ 

Trade Payables 1,718 23,897 

GST and FBT Payable 23,763 29,072 

Accrued Expenses 210,833 213,951 

Accrued Salaries and Wages 94,455 2,133 

Total 330,769 269,053 

 
29.  Provisions 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

Current $ $ 

Employee benefits provision   

Annual leave (a) 648,007 667,524 

Long service leave (b) 1,493,811 1,361,760 

Professional development allowance (c) 73,300 - 

Accrued days leave (d) 25,358 - 

Deferred Salary Scheme (e) 204,165 161,801 

 2,444,641 2,191,085 

Other provisions   

Employment on-costs (d) 146,080 139,067 

Total current 2,590,721 2,330,152 

 

 1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

Non-current $ $ 

Employee benefits provision   

Long service leave (b) 509,809 528,208 

 509,809 528,208 

Other provisions   

Employment on-costs(f) 32,451 33,408 

Total non-current 542,260 561,616 

 

 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

29.  Provisions (continued) 
 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that 
actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 
$ $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 590,839 616,496 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 57,168 51,028 

 648,007 667,524 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right 
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 
$ $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 546,154 352,265 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 1,457,466 1,537,703 

 2,003,620 1,889,968 

(c) Professional allowance leave liabilities have been classified as current as they must be used each 
calendar year and cannot be accrued from year to year. 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 
$ $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 73,300 - 

 73,300 - 

(d) Accrued days off liabilities have been classified as current as they must be used each calendar 
year and cannot be accrued from year to year. 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 
$ $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 25,358 - 

 25,358 - 

(e) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Actual 
settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 
$ $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period - - 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 204,165 161,801 

 204,165 161,801 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

29.  Provisions (continued) 

(f) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment 
on-costs including workers' compensation insurance.  The provision is the present value of 
expected future payments.  The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount 
(finance cost), is disclosed in note 9 'Other expenses'. 

 

Movements in other provisions  

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set 
out below. 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

Employment on-cost provision $ $ 

Carrying amount at start of period 172,475 172,288 

Additional provisions recognized 6,056 187 

Carrying amount at end of period 178,531 172,475 

 
 
30.  Other Liabilities 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

Current $ $ 

Income received in advance (a) 86,576 19,912 

Grants and advances (b) - 11,799 

Monies held on trust (c) 4,640 4,940 

Amounts repayable to DTWD (d) - 456,862 

Total current liabilities 91,216 493,513 

   

 $ $ 

(a) Income received in advance   

Student fees and charges 86,576 19,911 

(b) Grants and advances   

Kaart Warr Program - 7,930 

Healthy Computing Program - 3,869 

(c) Monies held on trust   

Jack Family Trust 227 227 

Denmark Music Foundation 4,093 4,592 

Anonymous benefactor 120 121 

GSIT Staff 200 - 

(d) Amounts payable to DTWD   

Refund of payments under the DPA - 456,862 

 91,216 493,512 

 
  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

 
31. Equity 

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Institute. The Government holds the 
equity interest in the net assets of the Institute. The Government holds the equity interest in the Institute 
on behalf of the community.  The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting 
from the revaluation of non-current assets. 

 1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 $ $ 

Contributed Equity   

Balance at start of period 10,492,749 5,886,580 

Contributions by owners   

Capital appropriation  - 4,606,169 

Distribution to owners   

Return of capital to owners (834,471) - 

Balance at end of period 9,658,278 10,492,749 

   

Reserves   

Asset revaluation surplus  
 

Balance at start of period 7,882,196 7,931,037 

Buildings - (48,841) 

Land - - 

Balance at end of period 7,882,196 7,882,196 

 

 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Accumulated surplus 
  

Balance at start of period 15,893,215 15,885,286 

Result for the period (336,913) 7,929 

Balance at end of period 15,556,302 15,893,215 

   

Total Equity at the end of the period 33,096,776 34,268,160 

 

 
  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

32. Notes on the Statements of Cash Flows 
 

Reconciliation of cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the 
related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

 

(a) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions 
(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables 
(c)  Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the 

 receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included as they are 
not reconciling items. 

33.  Resources Provided Free of Charge 
During the year no resources were provided to other agencies free of charge. 
 

34.  Commitments 
 

Lease commitments 

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised 
in the financial statements, are payable as follows:  

 1 January to 10 
April 2016 

2015 

 $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 760,973 2,657,444 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 19 

'Restricted cash and cash equivalents') 536,758 686,236 

 1,297,731 3,343,680 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash 
flows provided by/(used in) Operating activities 

  

Net cost of services (4,922,589) (19,218,537) 

Non-cash items:   

Depreciation and amortisation expense 240,750 842,342 

Doubtful debts expense - 23,782 

Resources received free of charge 174,000 954,549 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (4,991) 473,401 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:   

Current receivables (c) (321,330) (235,474) 

Current inventories 7,080 5,136 

Prepayments 142,404 (8,255) 

   

lncrease/(decrease) in liabilities   

Current payables (c) 67,025 (363,513) 

Current provisions 260,569 69,520 

Income received in advance/grants and advances 54,565 (65,717) 

Non-current provisions (19,356) (111,450) 

Net GST receipts/(payments) (a) 149,842 328,005 

Change in GST in receivables/payables (b) (140,666) (336,763) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (4,312,697) (17,642,974) 



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

34.  Commitments (continued) 
 

 Lease commitments (continued)   

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 
$ $ 

 Within 1 year 24,233 24,233 

 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 82,813 90,891 

 Total 107,046 115,124 

 Representing:   

 Non-cancellable operating leases 107,046 115,124 

 107,046 115,124 

The Institute has a property lease. Also included in the commitments are purchase orders and capital 
commitments outstanding at year end.  These commitments are all inclusive of GST. 

Other expenditure commitments 
Other expenditure commitments for the acquisition of goods and services contracted for at the end of 
the reporting period date but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows: 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 
$ $ 

    Within 1 year 53,238 44,260 

    Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  - 

    Total 53,238 44,260 

 
Capital expenditure commitments 
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts 
reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows: 

 

1 January to 
10 April 2016 

2015 

 
$ $ 

    Within 1 year 39,089 224,509 

    Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - - 

    Total 39,089 224,509 

 
35. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

 No contingent liabilities or assets exist as at 10 April 2016. 
 
36. Events occurring after the reporting period 

Great Southern Institute of Technology was closed on 10 April 2016 under the Vocational Education 
and Training (Colleges Closure and Establishment) Order.  The South Regional TAFE was created on 
11 April 2016. All the assets, rights and liabilities of Great Southern Institute of Technology as at 10 
April 2016 were transferred to South Regional TAFE. 

 

 

 



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

37.  Explanatory Statement 
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2016 and between the actual results for 2015 and 2016 are shown below.  Significant variations are 
considered to be those greater than 5% and 2% of Total Cost of Services. 

       

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
    

Variance between Variance between 

 
Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimated and actual results for 

 
note 2016 2016 2015 Actual 

1
 2015 and 2016 

A
 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

Expenses 
  

  
 

  Employee benefits expense  16,520,440 4,241,869 16,227,108 (12,278,571) (11,985,239) 

Supplies and services  5,505,322 1,415,626 5,621,806 (4,089,696) (4,206,180) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  598,587 240,750 842,342 (357,837) (601,592) 

Cost of sales  46,236 17,459 175,488 (28,777) (158,029) 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets  - - 473,401 - (473,401) 

Other expenses  2,035,698 458,498 1,229,026 (1,577,200) (770,528) 

Total cost of services  24,706,283 6,374,202 24,569,171 (18,332,081) (18,194,969) 

 
       

Income        

Revenue        

Fee for service  1,215,155 115,497 1,104,245 (1,099,658) (988,748) 

Student fees and charges  3,589,910 1,138,863 3,057,893 (2,451,047) (1,919,030) 

Ancillary trading 
 

204,056 13,165 215,430 (190,891) (202,265) 

Sales 
 

56,745 26,461 336,975 (30,284) (310,514) 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 
 

287,498 76,063 326,363 (211,435) (250,300) 

Interest revenue 250,009 53,923 244,448 (196,086) (190,525) 

Other revenue 57,505 22,650 65,280 (34,855) (42,630) 

Total revenue 5,660,878 1,446,622 5,350,634 (4,214,256) (3,904,012) 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

37.  Explanatory Statement (continued) 

     
Variance between Variance between 

 
Variance    Estimate   Actual   Actual estimated and actual results for 

 
note    2016   2016   2015 actual 

1
 2015 and 2016 

A
 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

Gains 
 

      

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 
 

- 4,991 - 4,991 4,991 

Total gains 
 

- 4,991 - 4,991 4,991 

Total income other than income from State 
Government  

5,660,878 1,451,613 5,350,634 (4,209,265) (3,899,021) 

  
      

NET COST OF SERVICES 
 

19,045,405 4,922,589 19,218,537 (14,122,816) (14,295,948) 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 
 

      

Service appropriation  18,297,204 4,411,676 18,271,917 (13,885,528) (13,860,241) 

Resources received free of charge  656,000 174,000 954,549 (482,000) (780,549) 

Total income from State Government 
 

18,953,204 4,585,676 19,226,466 (14,367,528) (14,640,790) 

(DEFICIT) / SURPLUS FOR PERIOD 
 

(92,201) (336,913) 7,929 (244,712) (349,833) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

      

Changes in asset revaluation surplus B - - (48,841) - 48,841 

Total other comprehensive income 
 

- - (48,841) - 48,841 

  
         

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE  PERIOD  

(92,201) (336,913) (40,912) (244,712) (296,001) 

Narrative on variances between 2016 estimate and 2016 actual 

1. The variance is due to the estimates being prepared on the basis of a full year of operations whilst the actual results reflect that the college was closed on 10 April 2016. 

Narrative on variances between 2016 actual and prior year 

A. The variance is due to the prior year actuals being for a full year of operations whilst the actual results reflect that the college was closed on the 10 April 2016. 
B. A revaluation of land and buildings was not performed in 2016 compared to a revaluation decrement on land and buildings in 2015. 
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37.  Explanatory Statement (continued) 

 

Statement of Financial Position 

     
Variance between  Variance between  

 
Variance       Estimate   Actual   Actual estimated and  actual results for  

 
note       2016   2016   2015 actual 2 2015 and 2016 C 

  
    $   $   $ $ $ 

Current Assets 
      

Cash and cash equivalents  7,567,240 760,973 2,657,444 (6,806,267) (1,896,471) 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  343,580 536,758 686,236 193,178 (149,478) 

Inventories  50,484 38,877 45,957 (11,607) (7,080) 

Receivables  172,475 915,646 608,801 743,171 306,845 

Other current assets  127,863 5,498,949 4,379,454 5,371,086 1,119,495 

Non-current assets held for sale  - - 620,000 - (620,000) 

Total Current  Assets  8,261,642 7,751,203 8,997,892 (510,439) (1,246,689) 

 
       

Non-Current Assets        

Property, plant and equipment  29,582,364 28,894,802 28,913,716 (687,562) (18,914) 

Intangible assets  - 5,737 10,886 5,737 (5,149) 

Total Non-Current Assets  29,582,364 28,900,539 28,924,602 (681,825) (24,063) 

 
       

TOTAL ASSETS  37,844,006 36,651,742 37,922,494 (1,192,264) (1,270,752) 
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37.  Explanatory Statement (continued) 

     
Variance between  Variance between  

 
Variance       Estimate   Actual   Actual estimated and  actual results for  

 
note       2016   2016   2015 actual 2 2015 and 2016 C 

  
    $   $   $ $ $ 

LIABILITIES 
  

  
   

Current Liabilities  
 

  
   

Payables  946,516 330,769 269,053 (615,747) 61,716 

Provisions  2,334,937 2,590,721 2,330,152 255,784 260,569 

Other current liabilities  65,454 91,216 493,513 25,762 (402,297) 

Total Current Liabilities  3,346,907 3,012,706 3,092,718 (334,201) (80,012) 

 
       

Non-Current Liabilities        

Provisions  673,066 542,260 561,616 (130,806) (19,356) 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  673,066 542,260 561,616 (130,806) (19,356) 

 
       

TOTAL LIABILITIES  4,019,973 3,554,966 3,654,334 (465,007) (99,368) 

 
       

NET ASSETS  33,824,033 33,096,776 34,268,160 (727,257) (1,171,384) 

 
       

Equity        

Contributed equity  10,492,749 9,658,278 10,492,749 (834,471) (834,471) 

Reserves  7,931,037 7,882,196 7,882,196 (48,841) - 

Accumulated surplus  15,400,247 15,556,302 15,893,215 156,055 (336,913) 

TOTAL  EQUITY  33,824,033 33,096,776 34,268,160 (727,257) (1,171,384) 

 
  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

37.  Explanatory Statement (continued) 

Narrative on variances between 2016 estimate and 2016 actual 

2. The variance is due to the estimates reflecting the financial position of the college after a full year of operations but the actual results reflect that the college was closed on 10 
April 2016. 

Narrative on variances between 2016 actual and prior year 

C. The variance is a result of the balances in 2015 reflecting a full year of operations in comparison to 2016 when the college was closed on 10 April 2016. 

 
 

Statement of Cash Flows       

     
Variance between  Variance between  

 
Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimated and  actual results for  

 
note 2016 2016 2015 actual 

3
 2015 and 2016 

D
 

  
$ $ $ $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 

 
   

  Service appropriation – Department of Training & 
Workforce Development  

18,297,204 3,954,814 18,554,825 (14,342,390) (14,600,011) 

Net cash provided by State Government  18,297,204 3,954,814 18,554,825 (14,342,390) (14,600,011) 

        

Utilised as follows:        

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES        

Payments        

Employee benefits  (16,520,440) (3,908,334) (16,470,783) 12,612,106 12,562,449 

Supplies and services  (4,849,322) (1,124,519) (4,837,280) 3,724,803 3,712,761 

GST payments on purchases  - (135,357) (507,015) (135,357) 371,658 

GST payments to taxation authority  - (5,309) (181,015) (5,309) 175,706 

Other payments  (2,054,680) (458,498) (1,197,148) 1,596,182 738,650 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

37.  Explanatory Statement (continued) 

 

     
Variance between  Variance between  

 
Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimated and  actual results for  

 
note 2016 2016 2015 actual 

3
 2015 and 2016 

D
 

  
$ $ $ $ $ 

Receipts         

Fee for service  1,215,155 115,497 1,150,033 (1,099,658) (1,034,536) 

Student fees and charges 

 

3,589,910 871,157 2,697,693 (2,718,753) (1,826,536) 

Ancillary trading 

 

204,056 13,165 215,430 (190,891) (202,265) 

Commonwealth grants and contributions  

 

287,498 64,264 326,363 (223,234) (262,099) 

Interest received 
 

250,009 66,663 249,573 (183,346) (182,910) 

GST receipts from on sales 
 

- 20,896 170,252 20,896 (149,356) 

GST receipts from taxation authority 
 

- 128,946 509,020 128,946 (380,074) 

Sale of Goods 
 

86,997 16,082 166,623 (70,915) (150,541) 

Other receipts 
 

- 22,650 65,280 22,650 (42,630) 

Net cash used in operating activities 
 

(17,790,817) (4,312,697) (17,642,974) 13,478,120 13,330,277 

        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES        

Payments        

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (389,500) (216,158) (149,357) 173,342 (66,801) 

Purchase of other current financial assets  - (1,261,899) (2,674,244) (1,261,899) 1,412,345 

Receipts         

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  - 4,991 9,228 4,991 (4,237) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (389,500) (1,473,066) (2,814,374) (1,083,566) 1,341,308 

 
       

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

37.  Explanatory Statement (continued) 

 

     
Variance between  Variance between  

 
Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimated and  actual results for  

 
note 2016 2016 2015 actual 

3
 2015 and 2016 

D
 

  
$ $ $ $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES        

Payments        

Payment to Owners  - (215,000) (500,000) (215,000) 285,000 

Net cash used in financing activities  - (215,000) (500,000) (215,000) 285,000 

        

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  116,887 (2,045,949) (2,402,523) (2,162,836) 356,574 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
period  7,793,933 3,343,680 5,746,203 (4,450,253) (2,402,523) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF PERIOD  7,910,820 1,297,731 3,343,680 (6,613,089) (2,045,949) 

 
Narrative on variances between 2016 estimate and 2016 actual 

3. The variance is due to the estimates being prepared on the basis of a full year of operations whilst the actual results reflect that the college was closed on 10 April 2016. 
 
Narrative on variances between 2016 actual and prior year 

D. The variance is due to the prior year actuals being for a full year of operations whilst the actual results reflect that the college was closed on the 10 April 2016. 

 
 
 



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

38. Financial Instruments 

(a)  Financial Risk Management Objectives and policies 

Financial instruments held by the Institute are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash 
equivalents, other financial assets, receivables, payables and refund of payments under DPA (part of 
other liabilities).  The Institute has limited exposure to financial risks. The Institute's overall risk 
management program focus on managing the risk identified below: 

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Institute's receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Institute. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions 
for impairment as show in the table at note 38 (c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 21 
‘Receivables’. 

Credit risk associated with the Institute's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is 
the amounts receivable for trade debtors with only minor exposure to student debts.  Credit risk 
associate with Other Financial Assets is minimal because the Institute has invested funds with 
reputable Banks regulated under the Australian Prudential Regulations. For trade receivables other 
than government, the Institute trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Institute 
has policies in place to ensure that material sales of products and services are made to customers 
with an appropriate credit history. Individual student debts are relatively minor in value and are 
monitored carefully.  At the end of the reporting period there are no significant concentrations of 
credit risk. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises when the Institute is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Institute is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The Institute 
has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by 
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the Institute's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The 
Institute does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks (for 
example, equity securities or commodity prices changes).  Other than as detailed in the Interest rate 
sensitivity analysis table at Note 38(c), The Institute has a moderate exposure to interest rate risk 
because interest revenue comprises a relatively small proportion of the Institute’s total revenue and it 
has no other borrowings. 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

38. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments 
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

  1 January to 
10 April 2016 

 31 Dec 2015 

Financial Assets $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalent 760,973 2,657,444 

Restricted cash and cash equivalent 536,758 686,236 

Receivables (a) 847,831 526,502 

Other financial assets 5,456,392 4,194,493 

Financial Liabilities   

Payables 307,006 239,981 

Amount repayable to DTWD - 456,863 

 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable) 

 

(c)  Financial Instrument Disclosure 

Credit risk  
The following table discloses the Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis 
of financial assets. The Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period 
is the carrying of an amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of 
financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based 
on information provided to senior management of the Institute. The Institute does not hold any 
collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

38. Financial Instruments (continued) 

    

 Ageing analysis of financial assets  

  

      
 

 Past due but not impaired  
 
  

   Carrying 
Amount 

Not past due and 
not impaired 

Up to 1 
month 

1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 
years 

Impaired 
Financial 
Assets  

10 April 2016 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial Assets              

Cash and cash equivalent 760,973 760,973 - - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalent 536,758 536,758 - - - - - 

Other financial assets 5,456,392 5,456,392 - - - - - 

Receivables       (a) 847,831 827,167 4,879 9,491 56,109 - (49,815) 

 7,601,954 7,581,290 4,879 9,491 56,109 - (49,815) 

        

31 Dec 2015 
   

 

   Financial Assets 
   

 

   Cash and cash equivalent 2,657,444 2,657,444 - - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalent 686,236 686,236 - - - - - 

Other financial assets 4,194,493 4,194,493 - - - - - 

Receivables       (a) 526,502 427,275 43,608 55,619 - - - 

 
8,064,675 7,965,448 43,608 55,619 - - - 

 
(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable). 



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

38. Financial Instruments (continued) 

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure 

The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for the Institute’s financial assets and financial liabilities and also their interest rate exposures.  The 
maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.  The Interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item. 

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Interest rate exposure     Maturity Dates 

  Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate 
% 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 

Variable 
Interest Rate 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

Nominal 
Amount 

Up to 1 
month 

Up to 3 
months 

3 months 
– 1 year 

1-5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

10 April 2016 
 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Financial Assets         

    Cash and cash equivalent 2.45 761 - 755 6 761 761 - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalent 

2.45 
537 - 537 - 537 537 - - - - 

Other financial assets 2.77 5,456 5,456 - - 5,456 5,456 - - - - 

Receivables       (a) - 847 - - 847 847 847 - - - - 

 
 7,601 5,456 1,292 853 7,601 7,601 - - - - 

Financial Liabilities            

Payables - 307 - - 307 307 307 - - - - 

Amount repayable to DTWD - - - - - - - - - - - 

  307 - - 307 307 307 - - - - 

31 Dec 2015            

Financial Assets            

Cash and cash equivalent 2.06 2,657 - 2,651 6 2,657 2,657 - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalent 

2.79 
686 686 - - 686 - 686 - - - 

Other financial assets 2.77 4,194 4,194 - - 4,194 1,034 3,160 - - - 

Receivables       (a) - 527 - - 527 527 527 - - - - 

 
 8,064 4,880 2,651 533 8,064 4,218 3,846 - - - 

Financial Liabilities            

Payables - 240 - - 240 240 240 - - - - 

Amount repayable to DTWD - 457 - - 457 457 457 - - - - 

  697 - - 697 697 697 - - - - 

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable). 



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

38. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Institute’s financial assets 
and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in 
interest rates.  It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting 
period. 

  - 100 Basis Points + 100 Basis Points 

 Carrying amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 
10 April 2016 $ $ $ $ $ 
      

Financial Assets      

Cash and cash 
equivalent 

760,973 (7,610) (7,610) 7,610 7,610 

Other Financial Assets 5,456,392 (54,564) (54,564) 54,564 54,564 

Restricted Cash and 
cash equivalent 

536,758 (5,368) (5,368) 5,368 5,368 

 
Total 
Increase/(Decrease) 

6,754,123 (67,542) (67,542) 67,542 67,542 

  
 

 
 
 
 

 - 100 Basis Points 
 

+ 100 Basis Points 
 

 Carrying amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 
Dec 2015 $ $ $ $ $ 
      

Financial Assets      

Cash and cash 
equivalent 

2,657,444 (26,574) (26,574) 26,574 26,574 

Other financial assets 4,194,493 (41,945) (41,945) 41,945 41,945 

Restricted Cash and 
cash equivalent 

686,236 (6,862) (6,862) 6,862 6,862 

 
Total 
Increase/(Decrease) 

7,538,173 (75,381) (75,381) 75,381 75,381 

 
 
Fair Values 
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are 
carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair 
values unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 

 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

39.  Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers 

Remuneration of Members of the accountable authority 
The number of members of the accountable authority whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-
monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are: 

$ 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

        $0 - $10,000 8 8 

$10,001 - $20,000 - 1 

 $90,001 - $100,000 1 - 

$100,000 - $110,000 - 1 

$260,001 - $270,000 - 1 

 $ $ 

Base remuneration and superannuation 70,476 399,345 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals 2,064 4,463 

Other benefits 503 6,230 

Total remuneration of the members of the accountable authority is: 73,043 410,038 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in respect of 
members of the Institute. 

 

Remuneration of senior officers 

The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, 
whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, 
fall within the following bands are: 

 
1 January to 10 

April 2016 
2015 

$    

$10,001 - $20,000 - 1 

$20,001 - $30,000 - 1 

$30,001 - $40,000 3 1 

$40,001 - $50,000 5 - 

$50,001 - $60,000 1 - 

$70,001 - $80,000 - 1 

$80,001 - $90,000 - 1 

 $90,001 - $100,000 1 1 

$100,001 - $110,000 - 1 

$140,001 - $150,000 - 2 

$150,000 - $160,000 - 1 

$160,001 - $170,000 - 2 

$220,001 - $230,000 - 1 

          $      $ 

Base remuneration and superannuation 362,121 1,379,380 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals 21,270 24,547 

Other benefits 2,017 45,272 

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 385,408 1,449,200 

  



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Period 1 January to 10 April 2016 (continued) 

39.  Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers (continued) 

 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the accountable authority in 
respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Institute. 
 
No Senior Officers are members of the Pension Scheme.  
 
 
40.  Remuneration of auditor 

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial year is as 
follows: 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

 $ $ 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators. 
 
 

39,000 73,000 

  
  

41.  Related bodies 

The Institute has no related bodies. 

 
 

42.  Affiliated bodies 

The Institute has no affiliated bodies. 
 
43. Supplementary financial information 

 
1 January to 

10 April 2016 
2015 

Write-Offs $ $ 

Buildings - 466,017 

Bad debts 11,043 8,283 

Total 11,043 474,300 

   

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes 
 

  

Public property written-off by the Executive Council during the period 53 - 

Total 53 - 

44.  Schedule of income and expenditure by service 

The Institute provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101(9) and that is Vocational 
Education and Training Delivery. 

In accordance with Section 40 of the Financial Management Act 2006, Colleges are required to prepare 
and submit annual estimates of the financial operations of the Institute for the following year to the Minister 
for Training and Workforce Development for approval by 30 September each year.   
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